INTRODUCTION

Miguel Quinones came to Fayette County, West Virginia, seeking a better life than he could have expected on the streets of New York City. He didn't know that his hosts were drug dealers, and he didn't know that a local man would come into his new home, start a fight and be killed. He didn't know that failing to report the crime would brand him as a criminal. He didn't know that a young woman would mistake his voice for that of the killer, and he didn't know that his court appointed lawyer would make insufficient efforts to defend him. He now stands convicted of a murder in a case where the Court ruled that the State could not argue for Felony murder, and where his co-defendants exculpated him from the fatal act.

## I. KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF RULINGS BELOW

The Grand Jury of Fayette County, West Virginia, in January, 1999 indicted Miguel A. Quinones for the murder of Christopher D. Reardon. On December 13, 1999 the Court relieved Attorney Travis D. Harrington as counsel and appointed James W. Keenan as his counsel. On August 11, 2000 a petit jury found Appellant guilty of murder in the second degree. On September 11, 2000 the Court denied Appellant's motion for probation and sentenced him to a definite term of twenty-five years. Attorney Keenan petitioned for appeal, but this Court refused on November 9, 2001.

Appellant filed a *pro se* petition for a writ of *Habeas Corpus*, and the Court appointed Attorney James W. Blankenship as Counsel. Counsel then filed an amended petition, and an evidentiary hearing was held on May 29, 2003 before the Honorable Charles M. Vickers. By its Order of August 5, 2004 the Court adopted the findings and conclusions proposed by counsel for the respondent and denied the relief sought. It is from this Order that this appeal is prosecuted.

*Appellant filed a pro se petition for appeal, but since this case was accepted to an argument docket he has asked that the undersigned appellate counsel represent him. Attached hereto is a supplemental pro se brief, as edited by counsel. We urge this Court to consider both this brief and the attachment. Lack of time to research and argue the grounds so raised prevent the full development in this brief of the grounds contained in the attachment.*

## II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

### ***Biographical Facts:***

Miguel Quinones came to West Virginia with Miguel Gonzalez because his mother died in 1991, his father disappeared when Appellant was seven years old, he had no permanent home and he had no high school education (V3<sup>1</sup> p. 86). His age, at the time, was sixteen and Gonzalez was younger (V3: p. 88). Gonzalez said he had a house and Quinones could stay with him. Soon after he arrived, Quinones determined that drug dealing took place in the house (V3: p. 89). Appellant denied owning guns and said he brought none with him. Married to Aida Rosado, since the offense, Appellant has become the father of a child, Miguel Quinones, Jr. Since his arrest he has rehabilitated himself through counseling and education (he has earned a GED and diplomas in Life Skills and Employability). He has completed a number of college classes (HC: Appellant's proposed "Findings of Fact").

### ***Facts from the underlying crime:***

On June 19, 1995, he was asleep when Mr. Reardon arrived (V3: p. 90). He awakened to the sound of a gunshot, and went toward the sound. He saw Damien Angel Bagut and Reardon holding guns. Reardon lunged toward Quinones and dropped his gun. Appellant turned to run but Reardon grabbed

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial is reported in four volumes, designated V1 through V4. The Habeas Corpus hearing transcript is designated HC.

him. Quinones heard another shot; Reardon released him and fell to the floor. Appellant watched in shock as Bagut shot Reardon a third time and picked up the gun Reardon had dropped. Bagut admitted being the shooter; he said Reardon had attempted to rob him (V3: pp. 91-94). Quinones denied shooting Reardon (V3: p. 100).

Bagut saw Reardon earlier on the day he was killed (V3: pp. 46-49). Reardon had previously "pulled a gun" on Bagut. Reardon asked Bagut to "front" him some cocaine, and Bagut refused. Reardon then grabbed a gun off a table in Bagut's home and said: "You're going to give me what I want." (V3: p. 50) Reardon started getting aggressive "and that's when I pulled out my gun." Reardon raised the gun and Bagut shot him once. "And when he kind of ran towards like the living room, that's when Mr. Quinones had woke up, and [Reardon] grabbed Mr. Quinones on the wrist and like put a real hard lock on him. And I was trying to protect Mr. Quinones, and I shot [Reardon] again." Bagut said Quinones didn't have a gun (V3: pp. 51-52). Appellant had a cast on his right hand (Exhibit 8) and had no use of the hand. He is right-handed. (V3: pp. 95-97)

Gonzalez was asked whether Damien Bagut had later threatened Gonzalez and Quinones. He replied: "He suggested to me that we was all in it together, and . . . if anything happened, we was all going to go down." He never heard Quinones say he participated in the killing of Reardon.

Bagut put a plastic bag over Reardon's head, and, along with Gonzalez, dragged the body to the van. Bagut drove the van away (V3: p. 97). Quinones and Gonzalez stayed behind. When Bagut returned, they said, "We've got to get out of here." They gathered their belongings and Bagut drove them all to Beckley.

Heather Taylor drove Appellant, Damien Bagut and Miguel Gonzalez to New York City. She was accompanied by her son and Diane Green (V1: p. 178). She overheard conversations among the three young males who rode in the back seat. She says they spoke Spanish, at first, and said the man was heavy. (V1: pp. 179-180) She says Damien said Quinones "shot him in the face." When Damien asked, "What if he isn't dead?" she *believes* it was Appellant who answered that the bag he tied around his head or the rope that he tied around his neck would have killed him if the shots hadn't (V1, p. 180).

Quinones denied that he said anything regarding killing Reardon, and Taylor and Green were confused in what they heard (V3: p. 99). This was only the second time Taylor had seen Quinones or Gonzalez, and she agreed that they sound alike (V2: p. 15). Diane Green says she heard Damien say that when he shot Reardon, Quinones started running the other way (V2: p. 97).

***Trial Facts:***

Trial commenced Tuesday, August 8, 2000 with voir dire. The Court advised Appellant with regard to his right to testify and his right to remain silent.

Thereafter, counsel asked the Court's indulgence so that he might further discuss the issue of testimony by Appellant. The Court responded: "What do you mean? You can address that anytime that you want to. I'm sure we're all waiting, why discuss it now? You can do it this evening, any break you want to."

(V1: pp. 52-54)

The State's first witnesses testified on August 8, and resumed on the morning of August 9, with Diane Green. The Court then recessed until 2:30 p.m. because the State's final witness was delayed. The witness had no sooner taken the witness stand when the courtroom lost electrical power. The Court then recessed until 9 a.m. on the following day, Thursday, August 10, 2000. At 9:01 a.m., power had not been restored, so the Court recessed until 1:00 p.m. A trial scheduled to begin on August 7 had been delayed three times, granting counsel several reprieves.

Following completion of the State's evidence, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal on the charges of first degree murder. The Court ruled that the State could not argue the Felony Murder theory to the jury because the indictment referred only to premeditation and there was insufficient evidence of any underlying felony (V4: p. 19).

In the case for Appellant, Keenan called Mitch Canterbury, Fayette County Deputy Sheriff. Canterbury testified that he took a statement from Miguel Gonzalez in 1997. The State objected to the introduction of the statement,

Gonzalez not being present. The Court sustained the objection (V3: pp. 26-28).

In an *in camera* hearing, Keenan asserted that Gonzalez was unavailable (the State agreed). In a statement that reveals exasperation with counsel, the Court said he tried to hold a hearing to get something done, "but we left with the understanding that whatever was going to be done would be done at the trial and, really, nothing was accomplished because no motions were made, nothing was done, and the Court made no ruling."

The Court permitted Keenan to read into the record a portion of a transcript from a Transfer hearing for Appellant, specifically the testimony of Miguel Gonzalez. Following the reading from the transcript, Keenan announced that he wanted "the balance of the afternoon" to properly warn Appellant and to counsel him with regard to the waiver of the privilege against self-incrimination, and he requested a continuance of the trial until the following morning. The Court responded: "Why wasn't that done prior to now?"(V3: p. 81) "Can you do it in 20 minutes?" Keenan said he could not, but the Court gave him only twenty minutes. (V3: p. 82)

The Court then addressed Appellant's rights, and recessed. When Court re-convened, Keenan asked: "May I confer with my client, Your Honor? I apologize." Another recess was taken. The Court then inquired: "Is counsel ready to bring the jury in?" Keenan: "No, Your Honor . . ."

THE COURT: "Well, that's all the time I'm going to give you, Mr. Keenan. You've had plenty of time to consult with your client, as far as I'm concerned. The only matter before you is whether or not he's going to testify . . . . I don't know that we can just delay this trial indefinitely to give you an opportunity to talk to your client.

(V3: pp. 83-84)

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND THE MANNER IN WHICH THEY WERE DECIDED**

### ***A. Counsel provided ineffective assistance to Appellant in the***

***following ways:***

- 1. Counsel failed to conduct an adequate investigation;***
- 2. Counsel did not adequately advise Appellant and did not prepare him to testify;***
- 3. Counsel failed to subject the State's case to meaningful adversarial testing;***
- 4. But for counsel's deficient performance of his duties to Appellant, it is probable that the outcome of the prosecution would have been a lesser sentence.***

***B. The cumulative effect of all of counsel's deficiencies was that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, with the result that he did not receive due process of law.***

***C. The Court erred in refusing to strike jurors Browning and Wagner, for cause.***

***D. The following assignments of error are raised in the pro se petition but not fully developed in this brief:***

- 1. The Habeas Court did not consider all grounds raised by Appellant, and did not rule upon them in his final Order;***

**2. The Habeas Court accepted false allegations from the State regarding extradition and included them as findings of fact;**

**3. There was insufficient evidence to convict Appellant of murder;**

**4. The Trial Court erred in not conducting individual voir dire of jurors concerning a highly prejudicial statement made to a television reporter by the Prosecuting Attorney or granting a motion for a mistrial due to prejudicial publicity.**

#### **IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES**

1. In West Virginia, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are governed by a two-pronged test: (1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Miller*, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995) Syllabus Point 5.

2. The standard of proof that the Appellant must overcome in ineffective assistance of counsel claims is that of "preponderance of the evidence." *State ex rel. Bess v. Legursky*, 195 W.Va. 435, 465 S.E.2d 892 (1995).

3. Appellant's right to competent and effective assistance of legal counsel is constitutionally guaranteed. *United States Constitution*, Amendment VI; *West Virginia Constitution*, Article III, § 14.

4. The Constitutional guarantee of effective assistance of counsel at trial applies to every criminal prosecution, without regard to whether counsel is

retained or appointed. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 396, 105 S.Ct. 830, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985).

5. The fulcrum for any ineffective assistance of counsel claim is the adequacy of counsel's investigation. Although there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, the presumption is simply inappropriate if counsel's strategic decisions are made after an inadequate investigation. *State ex rel. Daniel v. Legursky*, 195 W.Va. 314 at 320, 465 S.E.2d 416 at 422 (1995). *State ex rel. Bess v. Legursky*, *supra*; *State ex rel. Strogan v. Trent*, 196 W.Va. 148, 469 S.E.2d 7 (1996).

6. In assessing reasonableness of attorney's investigation, court must consider not only quantum of evidence already known to counsel, but also whether known evidence would lead reasonable attorney to investigate further. *Wiggins v. Smith*, 123 S.Ct. 2537, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003) *United States Constitution*, Amendment VI.

7. In making the requisite showing of prejudice a Appellant may demonstrate that the cumulative effect of counsel's individual acts or omissions was substantial enough to meet *Strickland's* test. *Williams v. Washington*, 59 F.3d 673, 682 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995); See, also, *State ex rel. Myers v. Painter*, 213 W.Va. 32, 576 S.E.2d 277 (W.Va., 2002).

8. If counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing, then the Defendant's Sixth Amendment rights have been denied and the adversarial process is presumptively unreliable. *U.S. v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984).

9. As far as is practicable in the selection of jurors, trial courts should strive to secure jurors who are not only free from prejudice or bias, but who also are not even subject to any well-grounded suspicion of prejudice or bias. *State v. Schermerhorn*, 211 W.Va. 376, 566 S.E.2d 263 (W.Va., 2002); *State v. Mills*, 211 W.Va. 532, 566 S.E.2d 891 (W.Va., 2002).

10. Once a prospective juror has made a clear statement during *voir dire* reflecting or indicating a presence of a disqualifying prejudice or bias, the prospective juror is disqualified as a matter of law and cannot be rehabilitated by subsequent questioning, later retractions, or promises to be fair. *O'Dell v. Miller*, 211 W.Va. 285, 565 S.E.2d 407 (W.Va., 2002) *Syllabus point #2*. See, also, *State v. Schermerhorn, supra*, and *State v. Mills, supra*.

11. As a result of the denial of due process of law, Appellant was convicted of a more serious offense than were his co-defendants, and was punished disproportionately to his involvement in the crime. Given that he was a juvenile when the offense was committed, the punishment imposed is shocking to the conscience. *State v. Cooper*, 172 W.Va. 266, 304 S.E.2d 851, at 856 (1983).

## V. ARGUMENT

**A. Counsel provided ineffective assistance to Appellant in the following ways:**

**1. Counsel failed to conduct an adequate investigation:** James W. Keenan was appointed to represent Appellant by Order entered December 13, 1999. Although Appellant's original attorney employed an investigator, it is apparent that Keenan lacked mastery of the information gathered by the investigator and failed to follow-up by interviewing witnesses. He made no attempt to locate Miguel Gonzalez, a vital witness for Appellant. A scheduling Order required that discovery motions be filed by June 29, 2000; Keenan filed no discovery motions (HC p. 6-7). Appellant's prior attorney, Travers R. Harrington, Jr. filed two motions: to exclude evidence (filed 10-18-99) and for identification by lineup (filed 11-1-99). Keenan said he had discussions with Harrington but could not recall discussing the motions. He neither requested a hearing upon the motions nor withdrew them. Keenan could recall no conversations with Appellant regarding the motions (HC pp. 7-8).

In assessing reasonableness of attorney's investigation, the court must consider not only the quantum of evidence already known to counsel, but also whether known evidence would lead a reasonable attorney to investigate further. *Wiggins v. Smith*, 123 S.Ct. 2537, 156 L.Ed.2d 471(2003) *United States Constitution*, Amendment VI.

At trial, the Court refused to admit an out-of-court statement of Miguel Gonzalez (HC p. 9). Keenan did not request a continuance; he received discovery materials at a pre-trial hearing on *Monday, August 7, 2000*. Trial commenced August 8, 2000.

Appellant says they spent very little time discussing the evidence; “[T]he majority of his conferences was just to discuss the possibility of plea bargaining.” (HC p. 48) Appellant says he did not get to see or discuss the statements of Nick Barraco, Richard Mackey, Joseph Paylawick, Sheriff Saxton, Steven Dwayne Dalton, Dolly May Bailey, Diane Green, Heather Taylor or Susan Gee. He did not see the sheriff’s investigation report, the post mortem examination report, the 911 incident report, the telephone bills of Elizabeth Pankey or Damien Bagut, or the forensics report of C. R. Lane (HC pp. 48-51).

In *Wiggins v. Smith*, 123 S.Ct. 2537, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003) counsel abandoned their investigation of Appellant's background after having acquired only rudimentary knowledge of his history from a narrow set of sources. After his conviction, Wiggins elected to be sentenced by a jury, in a murder case where the death penalty was a possible sentence. The Court found that the investigation fell short of professional standards, and could not be justified as a tactical decision because counsel had not fulfilled their obligation to conduct a thorough investigation of the defendant's background.

An investigation was conducted, at the request of former counsel. Mr. Keenan simply did not utilize the information, nor did he follow up on motions filed or attempt to secure the key out of State witness, Miguel Gonzalez. Trial counsel for Wiggins made no attempt to claim that his lack of investigation was based on a strategic decision, but this case makes clear that counsel's obligation extended to matters that might have mitigated the punishment. The source of this requirement is the *United States Constitution*, Amendment VI.

The United States Supreme Court, in *Wiggins*, said that to overturn a conviction for ineffective assistance of counsel, there must be a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Demonstrating prejudice required to support a claim of ineffective assistance requires a further determination by the Court of whether the probability of harm is sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. In other words, had Mr. Keenan properly prepared, would Mr. Quinones likely have been acquitted, convicted of a lesser offense, or have been offered a better plea deal that he might have accepted?

The record of the actual sentencing proceedings in *Wiggins* underscores the unreasonableness of counsel's conduct by suggesting that their failure to investigate thoroughly resulted from inattention, not reasoned strategic judgment. Appellant asserts that inattention was the culprit in the instant case, as well.

In March, Appellant asked Keenan to move the Court to permit him to accompany Keenan to the crime scene (HC pp. 52-53). Keenan says he discussed the evidence with Appellant during his visits to the Regional Jail (HC p. 72). He says the only information Appellant had on the location of Gonzalez was, "... up around Jersey or New York City or somewhere up in the east." (HC p. 73)

Keenan spoke with police officers but did not interview any other State witnesses (HC p. 15). He relied upon discovery materials provided to him on January 11, 2000 by Harrington (HC p. 17; Appellant's exhibit #3). He did not seek an Order for Appellant to accompany him to the crime scene (HC p. 22). Keenan reviewed the crime scene photos on August 4, 2000 (HC p. 23). Appellant had received three pages of a statement made by Miguel Gonzalez, and he forwarded them to Keenan (HC p. 44). He furnished the Gonzalez statement to Keenan on July 12, 2000 (HC p. 47).

Keenan "inherited" his private investigator, Richard Patrick, from Travis Harrington, Appellant's original counsel. He first discussed the case with Patrick on January 21, 2000. Patrick had located Gonzalez, but no subpoena was ever served on him. Keenan did not speak with counsel for Miguel Gonzalez until August 7, the day of the pre-trial hearing and the day before trial commenced (HC pp. 24, 32). It was, obviously, too late to have Gonzalez testify in person. The transcript of his testimony at the transfer hearing was helpful, but in person

testimony exonerating Quinones would have been very powerful. Keenan owed it to his client to make that effort. There was no strategic benefit in failing to call Gonzalez, and the probability of harm to Quinones by failing to call Gonzalez is sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the case.

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