**INTRODUCTION**

On June 19, 1995, Christopher Dennis Reardon, who was 49 years of age, was shot and killed by Miguel A. Quinones and Damien Bagut. Both Miguel A. Quinones and Damien Bagut were juveniles at the time of the murder. They, together with Miguel Gonzalez, were selling drugs and had sold drugs to Christopher Dennis Reardon. Mr. Reardon had spent all of his money on drugs and had transferred a vehicle and guns to Miguel A. Quinones, Damien Bagut and Miguel Gonzalez for drugs. On the morning of June 19, 1995, he tried to get drugs on credit. After his murder, the three fled the State of West Virginia for New York in the company of Heather Taylor and Diane Greene. The three were subsequently extradited from states to which they had fled back to the State of West Virginia. Each was transferred to adult status for

the purpose of trial. Miguel A. Quinones escaped from the detention center where he had been placed and was subsequently returned through the extradition process.

#### **I. KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF RULINGS BELOW**

A Juvenile Petition was filed in the Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia, on July 24, 1995 charging Miguel A. Quinones for the murder of Christopher D. Reardon. Upon his return to the State of West Virginia through extradition, a transfer hearing was held, pursuant to West Virginia Code § 49-5-10, and he was transferred to adult status on February 6, 1997. On July 28, 1997, he escaped from the detention center where he was being held. At the January 1998, term of the Grand Jury of Fayette County, West Virginia, Indictment No. 98-F-03 was returned charging Miguel A. Quinones with the murder of Christopher D. Reardon. Through the extradition process, on July 9, 1999, he was returned from the State of New York to the State of West Virginia. The Court had appointed Travers R. Harrington, Jr., to represent Mr. Quinones, but relieved him of that appointment and replaced him with James W. Keenan by its Order of December 13, 1999.

A petit jury found Miguel A. Quinones guilty of the murder of Christopher D. Reardon on August 11, 2000. On September 22, 2000, the Court denied Appellant's motion for probation and sentenced him to a definite term of twenty-five (25) years in the West Virginia Penitentiary. On November 9, 2001, this Court refused the Appellant's petition for appeal.

Appellant filed a pro se petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, and the Circuit Court of Fayette County appointed James W. Blankenship, III as Counsel to represent him. An amended petition was filed and on May 29, 2003, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Charles M. Vickers. Counsel for both sides submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions

of law. After consideration of the matter, Judge Vickers entered an Order on August 5, 2004, denying the relief sought by the Appellant.<sup>1</sup>

## II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

While interesting, the Appellant's "Facts" contained in his "Biographical Facts" and "Facts from the underlying crime", have little to do with the matter before the Court and are merely the Appellant's versions of the facts. A Fayette County petit jury found those statements not to be the facts of the case.

After his appointment to represent the Appellant, James W. Keenan received from Travers R. Harrington, Jr., the discovery provided to him by the State. (HC p. 31)<sup>2</sup> In a conversation with the Prosecutor, he was told if he needed anything else to "let me know and I will sit down with you". (HC p. 31)

Mr. Keenan is an attorney with twenty-three (23) years of experience, who has tried hundreds of criminal cases and who has represented defendants in at least a dozen murder cases. (HC pp. 29-30) He spent approximately ninety (90) hours of trial preparation, including reviewing the case with Richard Patrick, an investigator who had worked on the case with Travers Harrington. (HC p. 32)

In preparation for the trial, he met with the Appellant six (6) times at the jail. During those meetings, he discussed with the Appellant an offer made by the State, the statements of witnesses, the forensic evidence, his right to testify or not to testify, his testimony if he chose to testify, and the State's right to cross-examine him if he testified. Mr. Keenan showed and

---

<sup>1</sup>Appellant has filed a pro se brief. In paragraphs I, II, III, IV, V, VI, and VII the Appellant addresses matters that are the subject of an appeal of the conviction and not properly before this Court on a Writ of Habeas Corpus. Paragraphs VII and IX are addressed by Counsel for the Appellant in his brief and will not be addressed separately for that reason.

<sup>2</sup>References to the trial transcript are herein noted as V1 through V4, and the Habeas Corpus hearing is designated as HC.

reviewed photos with the Appellant, and discussed witnesses the Appellant wanted to have at the trial. (HC 11, 12, 20, 22, 27 and 28) Mr. Keenan personally went to the crime scene, which was then four years old, and viewed the photographs of the crime scene with deputies. (HC 23 and 72) However, Mr. Keenan did not provide copies of any of the file to the Appellant. (HC 20)

Two (2) motions had been filed by Travers Harrington, one to exclude evidence of other crimes and the second to have a "line-up". Mr. Keenan discussed those motions with Mr. Harrington, but not the Appellant. (HC p. 7) Neither motion was heard by the Court. The first motion was not necessary after a discussion with the State and an agreement that the State would not use evidence of other crimes. The second motion was believed by Mr. Keenan to be "fruitless". (HC p. 8)

The only evidence of other crimes introduced during the trial was that of drug use and trafficking, which was put into evidence by the defense as part of the trial strategy, which strategy was discussed with the Appellant. (HC pp. 33, 34) That strategy was particularly evident in the cross-examination of Dr. Sabet by Mr. Keenan. (V II pp. 79 to 84)

Mr. Keenan did not personally interview witnesses for the State, but had copies of their statements and the interviews of them conducted by his and Mr. Harrington's investigator. (HC p. 72)

Upon the commencement of the trial of the Appellant, two jurors, Juror Browning and Juror Wagner were challenged for cause; Juror Wagner because of his sentiments about drugs and Juror Browning because of his past representation by Prosecutor Blake and Assistant Prosecutor Harris. Both Jurors upon questioning indicated that they could render a verdict based solely on the facts and law. (V1 pp. 31, 32, 38 and 39) Both Jurors were stricken by the Appellant and did not sit on the jury.

The Appellant wanted two (2) witnesses to testify who were not called, Mildred Crawford and Miguel Gonzales. Mildred Crawford was not present at the time the murder occurred, and Mr. Keenan was unable to locate Miguel Gonzales. (HC pp. 23, 24 and 73) A statement given by Miguel Gonzales was attempted to be introduced into evidence by Mr. Keenan, but the Trial Court denied the introduction of the statement finding that it was not trustworthy. (V III p 41) The Trial Court did permit the introduction into evidence of the transcript of the testimony of Miguel Gonzales at his transfer hearing. (V III p. 80)

Before the Appellant testified at the trial, Mr. Keenan asked for time to talk to the Appellant. The Judge gave him twenty (20) minutes. Mr. Keenan requested more time, but was denied additional time. (V III p. 82) The Appellant then testified on his own behalf. On August 11, 2000, the jury found the Appellant guilty of murder in the second degree.

On September 11, 2000, the Trial Court addressed the issues of sentencing and probation for the Appellant. West Virginia Code, Chapter 61, Article 2, Section 3, as amended, provides the punishment for murder in the second degree to be confinement in the penitentiary for a definite term of not less than ten nor more than forty (40) years. The Court heard argument of counsel, the statement of the Appellant and then continued the sentencing and agreed to receive additional written statements in behalf of the Appellant. (Sentencing p. 20) On September 22, 2000, the Trial Court proceeded to a further hearing to address the issues of sentencing and probation. The Court accepted additional written recommendations on behalf of the Appellant. (Sentencing pp. 2 and 3) The Court additionally permitted the Appellant to speak again; whereupon the Trial Court sentenced the Appellant to a definite term of 25 years in the West Virginia State Penitentiary. (Sentencing p. 9) The Trial Court reviewed the Appellant's presentence investigation and the letters it had received. In denying probation, the Court

considered the Appellant's running away from home and coming to West Virginia, his running away from West Virginia after the murder, and his escape from custody. The Trial Court concluded that the Appellant had failed to face up to the adversities he has had. The Appellant continued to deny his complicity in the murder, even after the jury found him guilty. (Sentencing p. 11 and 12).

Damien Bagut was sentenced to a definite term of twenty (20) years in the West Virginia Penitentiary for the offense of murder in the second degree, the Trial Court having been bound to that term by the plea agreement. (Appended Document 1) On April 4, 1997, Miguel Gonzales entered an admission to the lesser-included offense of being an accessory after the fact to murder, under the juvenile petition wherein he was charged with murder. (Appended Document 2) From his testimony (Defendant's Exhibit No. 2), the testimony of Damien Bagut (V III pp. 49 and 50) and the Appellant (V III p. 95), it was determined that the only crime committed by Miguel Gonzales was the crime to which he admitted, accessory after the fact. On May 9, 1997, Miguel Gonzales was placed in the custody of the Division of Corrections for a period not to exceed one year. Attested copies of both Orders are attached to this brief.

### **III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

A. Counsel provided ineffective assistance to Appellant in the following ways:

1. Counsel failed to conduct an adequate investigation;
2. Counsel did not adequately advise Appellant and did not prepare him to testify;
3. Counsel failed to subject the State's case to meaningful adversarial testing;
4. But for counsel's deficient performance of his duties to Appellant, it is probable that the outcome of the prosecution would have been a lesser sentence.

B. The cumulative effect of all of counsel's deficiencies was that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, with the result that he did not receive due process of law.

C. The Court erred in refusing to strike Jurors Browning and Wagner for cause.

#### IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

1. Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are governed by a two-pronged test: (1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995).
2. In reviewing counsel's performance, Courts must apply an objective standard and determine whether, in light of all of the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the broad range of professional competent assistance, while at the same time refraining from engaging in hindsight or second guessing of trial counsel's strategic decisions. State v. Miller, *supra*.
3. The standard of proof that the Appellant must overcome in ineffective assistance of counsel claims is that of "preponderance of the evidence." State ex rel. Bess v. Legursky, 195 W.Va. 435, 465 S.E.2d 892 (1995).
4. Appellant's right to competent and effective assistance of legal counsel is constitutionally guaranteed. United States Constitution, Amendment VI; West Virginia Constitution, Article III, § 14.
5. The Constitutional guarantee of effective assistance of counsel at trial applies to every criminal prosecution, without regard to whether counsel is retained or appointed. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 105 S.Ct. 830, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985).

6. The fulcrum of any ineffective assistance of counsel claim is the adequacy of counsel's investigation. State ex rel. Daniel v. Legursky, 195 W.Va. 314, 465 S.E.2d 416 (1995). State ex rel. Bess v. Legursky, *supra*; State ex rel. Stogan v. Trent, 196 W.Va. 148, 469 S.E.2d 7 (1996).
7. In assessing reasonableness of attorney's investigation, the court must consider not only quantum of evidence already known to counsel, but also whether known evidence would lead a reasonable attorney to investigate further. Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003).
8. In making the requisite showing of prejudice, an Appellant may demonstrate that the cumulative effect of counsel's individual acts or omissions were substantial enough to meet the Strickland test. Williams v. Washington, 59 F.3d 673 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995); State ex rel. Myers v. Painter, 213 W.Va. 32, 576 S.E.2d 277 (2002).
9. If counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing, then the Defendant's Sixth Amendment rights have been denied and the adversarial process is presumptively unreliable. U.S. v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984).
10. As far as practicable in the selection of jurors, trial courts should strive to secure jurors who are not only free from prejudice or bias, but who also are not even subject to any well-grounded suspicion of prejudice or bias. State v. Schermerhorn, 211 W.Va. 376, 566 S.E.2d 263 (2002); State v. Mills, 211 W.Va.532, 566 S.E.2d 891 (2002).
11. Once a prospective juror has made a clear statement during *voir dire* reflecting or indicating a presence of a disqualifying prejudice or bias, the prospective juror is disqualified

as a matter of law and cannot be rehabilitated by subsequent questioning, later retractions, or promises to be fair. O'Dell v. Miller, 211 W.Va. 285, 565 S.E.2d 407 (2002)

12. Retroactivity of new case law overruling prior precedent is permitted only under very limited circumstances involving constitutionally-mandated issues. Prophylactic standards designed to safeguard the rights of every criminal defendant which are not constitutional rights are not retroactive. State v. Davisson, 209 W.Va. 303, 547 S.E.2d 241 (2001); State v. Blake, 197 W.Va. 700, 478 S.E.2d 550 (1996).

13. Co-defendants sentenced to different terms are not per se unconstitutional, and the Courts consider many factors such as who was prime mover, prior records, rehabilitative potential and lack of remorse. State v. Cooper 172 W.Va. 266, 304 S.E.2d 851 (1983).

14. There are two tests to determine whether a sentence is so disproportionate to a crime that it violates the Constitution: Is the sentence shocking to the conscience of the Court and society and is it disproportionate. State v. Cooper, *supra*.

15. A *habeas corpus* proceeding is not a substitute for an appeal absent a showing of constitutional dimension. State ex rel. Crupe v. Yardley, 213 W.Va. 335, 582 S.E. 2d 782 (2003)

16. Findings of fact by the trial court in a post-conviction habeas corpus proceeding should not be set aside or reversed unless clearly wrong. Mugnano v. Painter, 212 W.Va. 831, 575 S.E.2d 590 (2002).

## V. ARGUMENT

### A: Ineffective Assistance of Counsel:

#### 1. Adequate Investigation:

Mr. Keenan was appointed to represent the Appellant in December 1999, 4 ½ years after the murder of Christopher D. Reardon. It would have been impossible for any material information to be gathered from the crime scene, whether accompanied by the Appellant or not. Mr. Keenan did visit the crime scene himself, but more importantly he reviewed the investigating officers' drawings, reports and photographs, and talked with these officers. (HC 21, 22 and 23)

While he did not personally interview the State's witnesses, Mr. Keenan had Mr. Harrington's file, he talked to Mr. Harrington who had questioned these witnesses at the transfer hearing, and he went over the investigator's interviews of the witnesses. (HC 31, 72 and 73)

Mr. Keenan was unable to locate Miguel Gonzales for the trial. Miguel Gonzales would have been released from the custody of the Department of Corrections no later than May of 1998. (Appended Document 3). His whereabouts were not known and Mr. Keenan had no way of locating him. (HC 75) Appellant's statement that he was on parole in Massachusetts is not supported by any evidence thereof.

Had Miguel Gonzales testified, would the result of the trial been different? Miguel Gonzales was asleep at the time of the murder; therefore, his testimony would not have been as effective as that of Damien Bagut who testified that he did all of the shooting. The petit jury did not believe Damien Bagut or the Appellant. It is unlikely that Miguel Gonzales' testimony would have been more persuasive to that jury.

There is no evidence that any further investigation by Mr. Keenan would have been fruitful in finding evidence to submit to the petit jury. Only the Appellant, Miguel Gonzales and Damien Bagut were at the house at the time of the murder. Heather Taylor and Diane Greene were the only individuals who were with them when they fled to New York.

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